2011

Living Rivers v. Utah Department of Natural Resources, Division of Oil, Gas and Mining : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a petition for review of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order, dated January 13, 2011, and Order Denying Motion for Rehearing dated February 22, 2011, of the Utah Department of Natural Resources, Division of Oil, Gas and Mining. A timely Petition for Review was filed March 17, 2011. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2). This case has been transferred to the Utah Court of Appeals by the Supreme Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(4). No party made a timely objection to the transfer. A timely Docketing Statement was filed on April 7, 2011. This case was not referred to the Court's mediation program.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

I. Whether the Utah Board of Oil, Gas, and Mining failed to decide all of the issues requiring resolution prior to issuance of the Underground Injection Control (UIC) permit when it failed to evaluate public health and safety concerns in determining whether certain conditions be attached and incorporated to the issuance of the UIC permit for the Harley Dome #1 SWD Well located in the NW1/4 NE1/4 of Section 10, Township 19 South, Range 25 East, S.L.M., Grand County, Utah (hereinafter "Well"), including installation of monitoring wells between the injection well and the Colorado River.

Determinative law: U.C.A. §§ 40-6-1, 40-6-5; U.C.A. §§ 63G-4-401, 63G-4-403, 63G-4-404, 63G-4-405; U.A.C. Rules R649-5-1, R649-5-2, R649-5-3, R649-5-4, R649-5-5, R649-5-6.

Standard of Review: Whether the Utah Board of Oil, Gas and Mining decided all of the issues requiring resolution are a question of law reviewed for correctness. *Orchard Park Care Ctr. V. Dep't of Health*, 2009 UT App 284, ¶ 8; *EAGALA, Inc. v. Department of Workforce Servs.* 2007 UT App. 43, ¶ 7.

Citation to record showing issue preserved in administrative proceeding: Appellant preserved this issue by raising and arguing the same in their December 7, 2010, request for continuance or alternatively that certain conditions be attached and incorporated to the issuance of the UIC permit for the Well. Administrative Record Index (hereinafter "AR") at 0117 – 0120. Also the issue was raised at the December 8, 2010, hearing before the Board of Oil, Gas and Mining. AR 0117, AR 0206 at pp. 7:7 - 9:1, 72:9 – 73:8, 196:24 – 197:25. Additionally, on February 1, 2011, Living Rivers filed a Request for Rehearing and Modification of Existing Order, And in the Alternative, Request for a Stay of the Order Issued on January 13, 2011 (hereinafter "Motion for Rehearing"). AR 0160 – 0171.

II. Whether the Utah Board of Oil, Gas and Mining decision granting the UIC Permit without proposed monitoring conditions was an abuse of discretion in light of the whole record demonstrating substantial evidence and data that supports a finding

that the proposed injection well may initiate fractures through the overlying strata or enable the injected fluid or formation fluid to enter the Colorado River.

Determinative law: U.C.A. §§ 40-6-1, 40-6-5; U.C.A. §§ 63G-4-401, 63G-4-403, 63G-4-404, 63G-4-405; U.A.C. Rules R649-5-1, R649-5-2, R649-5-3, R649-5-4, R649-5-5, R649-5-6

Standard of Review: An agency's findings are reviewed under a substantial evidence standard. *Martinez v. Media-Paymaster Plus, et al.*, 2007 UT 42, 164 P.3d 384 (Utah 2007).

Citation to record showing issue preserved in administrative proceeding: Appellant preserved this issue by raising and arguing the same in their December 7, 2010, request for continuance or alternatively that certain conditions be attached and incorporated to the issuance of the UIC permit for the Well. Administrative Record Index (hereinafter "AR") at 0117 – 0120. Also the issue was raised at the December 8, 2010, hearing before the Board of Oil, Gas and Mining. AR 0117, AR 0206 at pp. 7:7 - 9:1, 72:9 – 73:8, 196:24 – 197:25. Additionally, on February 1, 2011, Living Rivers filed a Request for Rehearing and Modification of Existing Order, And in the Alternative, Request for a Stay of the Order Issued on January 13, 2011 (hereinafter "Motion for Rehearing"). AR 0160 – 0171.

III. Whether the Utah Board of Oil, Gas and Mining decision denying Living River's Request for Reconsideration and in the Alternative Request for a Stay of the Order Issued on January 13, 2011, that presented new evidence through expert

testimony that supports a finding that the proposed injection well may initiate fractures through the overlying strata or enable the injected fluid or formation fluid to enter the Colorado River was error and an abuse of discretion.

Determinative law: U.C.A. §§ 40-6-1, 40-6-5; U.C.A. §§ 63G-4-401, 63G-4-403, 63G-4-404, 63G-4-405; U.A.C. Rules R649-5-1, R649-5-2, R649-5-3, R649-5-4, R649-5-5, R649-5-6

Standard of Review: An agency's findings are reviewed under a substantial evidence standard. *Martinez v. Media-Paymaster Plus, et al.*, 2007 UT 42, 164 P.3d 384 (Utah 2007).

Citation to record showing issue preserved in administrative proceeding: On February 1, 2011, Living Rivers filed a Request for Rehearing and Modification of Existing Order, And in the Alternative, Request for a Stay of the Order Issued on January 13, 2011 (hereinafter "Motion for Rehearing"). AR 0160 – 0171.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTORY, ORDINANCES, AND RULES.

Utah Code Annotated Section 40-6-1. Declaration of public interest:

It is declared to be in the public interest to foster, encourage, and promote the development, production, and utilization of natural resources of oil and gas in the state of Utah in such a manner as will prevent waste; to authorize and to provide for the operation and development of oil and gas properties in such a manner that a greater ultimate recovery of oil and gas may be obtained and that the correlative rights of all owners may be fully protected; to provide exclusive state authority over oil and gas exploration and development as regulated under the provisions of this chapter; to encourage, authorize, and provide for voluntary agreements for cycling, recycling, pressure maintenance, and secondary recovery operations in order that the

greatest possible economic recovery of oil and gas may be obtained within the state to the end that the land owners, the royalty owners, the producers, and the general public may realize and enjoy the greatest possible good from these vital natural resources.

Utah Code Annotated Section 40-6-5. Jurisdiction of board – Rules:

(1) The board has jurisdiction over all persons and property necessary to enforce this chapter. The board shall enact rules in accordance with the Utah Administrative Rulemaking Act.

(2) The board shall adopt rules and make orders as necessary to administer the following provisions:

(a) Ownership of all facilities for the production, storage, treatment, transportation, refining, or processing of oil and gas shall be identified.

(b) Well logs, directional surveys, and reports on well location, drilling, and production shall be made and filed with the division. Logs of wells marked "confidential" shall be kept confidential for one year after the date on which the log is required to be filed, unless the operator gives written permission to release the log at an earlier date. Production reports shall be:

(i) filed monthly;

(ii) accurate; and

(iii) in a form that reasonably serves the needs of state agencies and private fee owners.

(c) Monthly reports from gas processing plants shall be filed with the division.

(d) Wells shall be drilled, cased, operated, and plugged in such manner as to prevent:

(i) the escape of oil, gas, or water out of the reservoir in which they are found into another formation;

(ii) the detrimental intrusion of water into an oil or gas reservoir;

(iii) the pollution of fresh water supplies by oil, gas, or salt water;

(iv) blowouts;

(v) cavings;

(vi) seepages; and

(vii) fires.

(e) The drilling of wells shall not commence without an adequate and approved supply of water as required by Title 73, Chapter 3. This provision is not intended to impose any additional legal requirements, but to assure that existing legal requirements concerning the use of water have been met prior to the commencement of drilling.

(f) The operator shall furnish a reasonable performance bond or other good and sufficient surety, conditioned for the performance of the duty to:

(i) plug each dry or abandoned well;

(ii) repair each well causing waste or pollution; and

(iii) maintain and restore the well site.

(g) Production from wells shall be separated into oil and gas and measured by means and upon standards that will be prescribed by the board and will reflect current industry standards.

(h) Crude oil obtained from any reserve pit, disposal pond or pit, or similar facility, and any accumulation of nonmerchantable waste crude oil shall be treated and processed, as prescribed by the board.

(i) Any person who produces, sells, purchases, acquires, stores, transports, refines, or processes oil or gas or injects fluids for cycling, pressure maintenance, secondary or enhanced recovery, or salt water disposal in this state shall maintain complete and accurate records of the quantities produced, sold, purchased, acquired, stored, transported, refined, processed, or injected for a period of at least six years. The records shall be available for examination by the board or

its agents at any reasonable time. Rules enacted to administer this subsection shall be consistent with applicable federal requirements.

(j) Any person with an interest in a lease shall be notified when all or part of that interest in the lease is sold or transferred.

(3) The board has the authority to regulate:

(a) all operations for and related to the production of oil or gas including:

(i) drilling, testing, equipping, completing, operating, producing, and plugging of wells; and

(ii) reclamation of sites;

(b) the spacing and location of wells;

(c) operations to increase ultimate recovery, such as:

(i) cycling of gas;

(ii) the maintenance of pressure; and

(iii) the introduction of gas, water, or other substances into a reservoir;

(d) the disposal of salt water and oil-field wastes;

(e) the underground and surface storage of oil, gas, or products; and

(f) the flaring of gas from an oil well.

(4) For the purposes of administering this chapter, the board may designate:

(a) wells as:

(i) oil wells; or

(ii) gas wells; and

(b) pools as:

(i) oil pools; or

(ii) gas pools.

(5) The board has exclusive jurisdiction over:

(a) class II injection wells, as defined by the federal Environmental Protection Agency or any successor agency; and

(b) pits and ponds in relation to these injection wells.

(6) The board has jurisdiction:

(a) to hear any questions regarding multiple mineral development conflicts with oil and gas operations if there:

(i) is potential injury to other mineral deposits on the same lands;
or

(ii) are simultaneous or concurrent operations conducted by other mineral owners or lessees affecting the same lands; and

(b) to enter its order or rule with respect to those questions.

(7) The board has enforcement powers with respect to operators of minerals other than oil and gas as are set forth in Section 40-6-11, for the sole purpose of enforcing multiple mineral development issues.

Utah Code Annotated Section 63G-4-401. Judicial review -- Exhaustion of administrative remedies:

(1) A party aggrieved may obtain judicial review of final agency action, except in actions where judicial review is expressly prohibited by statute.

(2) A party may seek judicial review only after exhausting all administrative remedies available, except that:

(a) a party seeking judicial review need not exhaust administrative remedies if this chapter or any other statute states that exhaustion is

not required;

(b) the court may relieve a party seeking judicial review of the requirement to exhaust any or all administrative remedies if:

(i) the administrative remedies are inadequate; or

(ii) exhaustion of remedies would result in irreparable harm disproportionate to the public benefit derived from requiring exhaustion.

(3) (a) A party shall file a petition for judicial review of final agency action within 30 days after the date that the order constituting the final agency action is issued or is considered to have been issued under Subsection 63G-4-302(3)(b).

(b) The petition shall name the agency and all other appropriate parties as respondents and shall meet the form requirements specified in this chapter.

Utah Code Annotated Section 63G-4-403. Judicial review -- Formal adjudicative proceedings:

(1) As provided by statute, the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to review all final agency action resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings.

(2) (a) To seek judicial review of final agency action resulting from formal adjudicative proceedings, the petitioner shall file a petition for review of agency action with the appropriate appellate court in the form required by the appellate rules of the appropriate appellate court.

(b) The appellate rules of the appropriate appellate court shall govern all additional filings and proceedings in the appellate court.

(3) The contents, transmittal, and filing of the agency's record for judicial review of formal adjudicative proceedings are governed by the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, except that:

(a) all parties to the review proceedings may stipulate to shorten, summarize, or organize the record;

(b) the appellate court may tax the cost of preparing transcripts and

copies for the record:

- (i) against a party who unreasonably refuses to stipulate to shorten, summarize, or organize the record; or

- (ii) according to any other provision of law.

(4) The appellate court shall grant relief only if, on the basis of the agency's record, it determines that a person seeking judicial review has been substantially prejudiced by any of the following:

- (a) the agency action, or the statute or rule on which the agency action is based, is unconstitutional on its face or as applied;

- (b) the agency has acted beyond the jurisdiction conferred by any statute;

- (c) the agency has not decided all of the issues requiring resolution;

- (d) the agency has erroneously interpreted or applied the law;

- (e) the agency has engaged in an unlawful procedure or decision-making process, or has failed to follow prescribed procedure;

- (f) the persons taking the agency action were illegally constituted as a decision-making body or were subject to disqualification;

- (g) the agency action is based upon a determination of fact, made or implied by the agency, that is not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court;

- (h) the agency action is:

- (i) an abuse of the discretion delegated to the agency by statute;

- (ii) contrary to a rule of the agency;

- (iii) contrary to the agency's prior practice, unless the agency justifies the inconsistency by giving facts and reasons that demonstrate a fair and rational basis for the inconsistency; or

- (iv) otherwise arbitrary or capricious.

Utah Code Annotated Section 63G-4-404. Judicial review -- Type of relief:

(1) (a) In either the review of informal adjudicative proceedings by the district court or the review of formal adjudicative proceedings by an appellate court, the court may award damages or compensation only to the extent expressly authorized by statute.

(b) In granting relief, the court may:

- (i) order agency action required by law;
- (ii) order the agency to exercise its discretion as required by law;
- (iii) set aside or modify agency action;
- (iv) enjoin or stay the effective date of agency action; or
- (v) remand the matter to the agency for further proceedings.

(2) Decisions on petitions for judicial review of final agency action are reviewable by a higher court, if authorized by statute.

Utah Code Annotated Section 63G-4-405. Judicial review -- Stay and other temporary remedies pending final disposition:

(1) Unless precluded by another statute, the agency may grant a stay of its order or other temporary remedy during the pendency of judicial review, according to the agency's rules.

(2) Parties shall petition the agency for a stay or other temporary remedies unless extraordinary circumstances require immediate judicial intervention.

(3) If the agency denies a stay or denies other temporary remedies requested by a party, the agency's order of denial shall be mailed to all parties and shall specify the reasons why the stay or other temporary remedy was not granted.

(4) If the agency has denied a stay or other temporary remedy to protect the public health, safety, or welfare against a substantial threat, the court may not grant a stay or other temporary remedy unless it finds that:

- (a) the agency violated its own rules in denying the stay; or

(b) (i) the party seeking judicial review is likely to prevail on the merits when the court finally disposes of the matter;

(ii) the party seeking judicial review will suffer irreparable injury without immediate relief;

(iii) granting relief to the party seeking review will not substantially harm other parties to the proceedings; and

(iv) the threat to the public health, safety, or welfare relied upon by the agency is not sufficiently serious to justify the agency's action under the circumstances.

Utah Oil and Gas Conservation Rule R649-5-1. Requirements for Injection of Fluids Into Reservoirs.

1. Operations to increase ultimate recovery, such as cycling of gas, the maintenance of pressure, the introduction of gas, water or other substances into a reservoir for the purpose of secondary or other enhanced recovery or for storage and the injection of water into any formation for the purpose of water disposal shall be permitted only by order of the board after notice and hearing.
2. A petition for authority for the injection of gas, liquefied petroleum gas, air, water, or any other medium into any formation for any reason, including but not necessarily limited to the establishment of or the expansion of waterflood projects, enhanced recovery projects, and pressure maintenance projects shall contain:
 - 2.1. The name and address of the operator of the project.
 - 2.2. A plat showing the area involved and identifying all wells, including all proposed injection wells, in the project area and within one-half mile radius of the project area.
 - 2.3. A full description of the particular operation for which approval is requested.
 - 2.4. A description of the pools from which the identified wells are producing or have produced.
 - 2.5. The names, description and depth of the pool or pools to be affected.
 - 2.6. A copy of a log of a representative well completed in the pool.
 - 2.7. A statement as to the type of fluid to be used for injection, its source and the estimated amounts to be injected daily.

- 2.8. A list of all operators or owners and surface owners within a one-half mile radius of the proposed project.
- 2.9. An affidavit certifying that said operators or owners and surface owners within a one-half mile radius have been provided a copy of the petition for injection.
- 2.10. Any additional information the board may determine is necessary to adequately review the petition.
3. Applications as required by R649-5-2 for injection wells that are located within the project area, may be submitted for board consideration and approval with the request for authorization of the recovery project.
4. Established recovery projects may be expanded and additional wells placed on injection only upon authority from the board after notice and hearing or by administrative approval.
5. If the proposed injection interval can be classified as an USDW, approval of the project is subject to the requirements of R649-5-4.

Utah Oil and Gas Conservation Rule R649-5-2. Requirements for Class II Injection Wells Including Water Disposal, Storage and Enhanced Recovery Wells.

1. Injection wells shall be completed, equipped, operated, and maintained in a manner that will prevent pollution and damage to any USDW, or other resources and will confine injected fluids to the interval approved.
2. The application for an injection well shall include a properly completed UIC Form 1 and the following:
 - 2.1. A plat showing the location of the injection well, all abandoned or active wells within a one-half mile radius of the proposed well, and the surface owner and the operator of any lands or producing leases, respectively, within a one-half mile radius of the proposed injection well.
 - 2.2. Copies of electrical or radioactive logs, including gamma ray logs, for the proposed well run prior to the installation of casing and indicating resistivity, spontaneous potential, caliper, and porosity.
 - 2.3. A copy of a cement bond or comparable log run for the proposed injection well after casing was set and cemented.
 - 2.4. Copies of logs already on file with the division should be referenced, but need not be refiled.
 - 2.5. A description of the casing or proposed casing program of the injection well and of the proposed method for testing the casing before use of the well.

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