2011

# Living Rivers v. Utah Department of Natural Resources, Board of Oil, Gas, and Mining : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

---

<sup>17</sup> To the extent counsel's statements touched upon the concerns expressed by the BLM in its August 27, 2010 letter concerning the helium deposit on federal land, the Board notes that after meeting with Westwater and reviewing additional data, the BLM withdrew its objections to the Subject Well via letter dated September 20, 2010 (both of the BLM's letters are contained within Exhibit 5).

<sup>18</sup> In its Final Order, the Board distinguished Westwater's and the Division's evidence from Living Rivers' statements of concern (R.153 at ¶22).

testimony. Second and most importantly, not only was the letter filed 2.5 months after the evidentiary hearing and more than 1 month after the Board's Final Order, it was filed *after* the Board had already issued its ruling denying the motion for rehearing. *See* Statement of Facts at ¶19. The letter simply was not before the Board prior to the challenged rulings, and could not have been considered in connection with those rulings. The letter was not admitted into evidence and is thus not part of the “whole record” before the Board for purposes of the substantial evidence test.<sup>19</sup> The Board included the letter within the paginated “record” transmitted to this Court only because it was *filed* by a party below.<sup>20</sup>

Although neither counsel’s factual assertions, nor Dr. Solomon’s late-filed letter constitute evidence submitted to the Board when the evidentiary record was open, Living Rivers erroneously characterizes those things as “substantial evidence and data” in challenging the Board's findings. Petitioner’s Brief at 18. This Court must review the

---

<sup>19</sup> Utah Courts have clarified that the “whole” record encompasses both the evidence *supporting*, as well as all evidence *contradicting* or casting doubt upon, the challenged findings. *Grace Drilling Co.*, 776 P.2d at 68. The reported decisions, however, do not treat the “whole record” as encompassing evidence that was never offered or admitted, or evidence submitted *after* the hearing was held and the final decision was made. *Id.*

<sup>20</sup> In *Salt Lake Donated Dental Services*, this Court rejected an argument that a Board’s acceptance and time-stamping of a filed affidavit, and later inclusion of it in the transmitted record on appeal, made such affidavit part of the “record” for purposes of the substantial evidence test. 2011 UT App 7, ¶12 n3 (“mere fact that affidavits were attached to a denied request for reconsideration and thus found their way into the Board’s file and in turn into the record on appeal does not establish that the Board did, or was required to, consider them . . . [s]uch a rule would place the question of admissibility in the hands of individual parties”).

challenged findings in light of the evidence that was actually before the Board when those findings were made. *See Salt Lake Donated Dental Serv.*, 2011 UT App 7, ¶12; 4 C.J.S. *Appeal and Error* § 565. As discussed below, only the uncontradicted evidence of Westwater and the Division was before the Board, and the two findings challenged by Living Rivers are amply supported by this evidence.

**B. The Board's Finding That Injection Would Not Initiate Fractures Through Overlying Strata is Supported by Substantial Evidence.**

As set out in the Statement of Facts above, Westwater presented extensive evidence demonstrating that the injection formation, the Wingate Sandstone, and the surrounding confining geologic layers, are competent to accept injection of water into the Wingate at the approved injection pressures. *See* Statement of Facts at ¶¶ 24, 27, 29-31 and 34. That evidence came in the form of exhibits concerning the geology of the area, the composition, thicknesses, depths and other characteristics of the injection formation and surrounding geologic zones, and expert testimony concerning the same (R.206 at 113-125 and 128-142, Exhibit 8, Exhibit 9, Exhibits 10-1 through 10-4). That the Wingate was competent to accept injection water at the approved pressures was confirmed through step rate testing designed specifically for this purpose which established a maximum injection pressure below which fracturing would not occur (R.206 at 125-128, 144-47, 149 and 182-85, Exhibit 12). Moreover, Westwater's witness and the Division's geologist testified concerning the further ten percent (10%) downward adjustment the Division makes to this maximum allowable pressure to build in extra

assurance that fracturing cannot occur (R.206 at 145 and 183-84). This adjusted pressure (360 PSI) became the maximum pressure authorized by the Board in its Final Order (R.155 at ¶3). The Division's technical staff reviewed and was satisfied with the evidence presented by Westwater on this permit issue (R.206 at 179-80, Division's Exhibits 1 and 2). Although it conducted cross-examination and gave argument on this point through counsel, Living Rivers presented no exhibits, testimony or other evidence to substantiate its concerns on this point at the hearing.

Of note is the fact that Living Rivers failed to marshal any of the substantial evidence the Board set forth above and in the Statement of Facts in paragraphs 24, 27, 29-31 and 34. Instead, Living Rivers states that "the only evidence presented in contravention to the possibility of fractures was that 'frac flow back water' was not to be injected." Petitioner's Brief at 26. That statement not only fails to mention any of the relevant, substantial evidence set forth above, it refers to an issue (injection of frac flowback water)<sup>21</sup> related to water compatibility, and not related to whether injection may cause fracturing of the overlying strata. Living Rivers' failure to marshal the evidence supporting the Board's finding on this issue should be fatal to its argument. *See Martinez*

---

<sup>21</sup> Frac flow-back water refers to water produced by an oil or gas well which contains fluids previously used in an intentional hydrolic fracturing operation designed to stimulate oil and gas production. The issue of whether such water could potentially end up being delivered to the subject facility for treatment or disposal (and potentially be injected into the Subject Well) is a question relating to the compatibility of the injected fluid with the existing water in the target formation. It relates to *what kind* of water might be injected into the Subject Well. It does not relate to the *rates or pressures* of injection and whether such rates and pressures might fracture the confining strata overlying the injection formation.



*v. Media-Paymaster Plus/Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints*, 2007 UT 42, ¶¶17 and 19, 164 P.3d 384 (“To successfully challenge an agency’s factual findings, the party ‘must marshal all of the evidence supporting the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, and in light of the conflicting or contradictory evidence, the findings are not supported by substantial evidence’ . . . parties that fail to marshal the evidence do so at the risk that the reviewing court will decline, in its discretion, to review the trial court’s factual findings”)(quoting *Grace Drilling Co.*, 776 P.2d at 68).

In any event, the substantial evidence marshaled by the Board amply supports its finding that “the proposed injection well and pressures will not initiate or cause fractures in the Wingate or the confining intervals that would allow the injected fluids or formation fluids to enter a fresh water aquifer or USDW” (R.152 at ¶17).

**C. The Board’s Finding That Injection Will Not Cause Discharge of Water at Outcrops of The Wingate Formation Near The Colorado River is Supported by Substantial Evidence.**

Extensive evidence was adduced at the hearing concerning whether injection will create pressure and cause water to move uphill within the injection formation and appear at outcrops near the Colorado River. *See* Statement of Facts at ¶¶ 24, 27, 29, 31 and 34. The Board received exhibits and heard testimony concerning the area’s geology and the composition, thicknesses, depths and other characteristics of the injection formation and surrounding geologic zones (R.206 at 113-116, 121-125 and 128-142, Exhibit 8, Exhibit 9, Exhibits 10-1 through 10-4). The evidence demonstrated that the geologic features in the area tilt away from the Wingate outcrops near the Colorado River, which are located

some 800 feet higher than, and 5.8 miles away from, the point where the Subject Well intersects the Wingate Formation (R.206 at 118-25, Exhibit 9). The evidence also demonstrated that water within the Wingate formation flows laterally and downhill, and will move in the opposite direction of the outcrop near the Colorado River. *Id.* Expert testimony established that injection operations cannot raise pressures within the Wingate formation sufficiently to cause the water to move uphill against the dip (or tilt) of the formation (R.206 at 122).

The Division's technical staff reviewed and was satisfied with the evidence Westwater presented on this issue (R.206 at 179-80, Division's Exhibits 1 and 2). Although Living Rivers' counsel gave argument and expressed Living Rivers' concern on this point, Living Rivers presented no exhibits, testimony or other evidence to substantiate its concerns at the hearing.

As with the fracturing issue discussed above, Living Rivers failed to marshal any evidence beyond the assertions of counsel to challenge the Board's findings. This Court should uphold and decline to review the Board's findings on this issue for this reason, regardless of the marshaling of substantial evidence set forth by the Board above. *See Martinez*, 2007 UT 42, ¶¶17 and 19.

In the end, the evidence demonstrated conclusively that injected fluid will not enter the Colorado River. Living Rivers presented no countervailing evidence, and made no plausible case that there is any risk associated with this issue.

**D. The Board's Other Technical Findings Are Supported By Substantial Evidence.**

Living Rivers briefly mentions a third factual issue—that the injection water composition data submitted to the Board was based only on "modeling," and was therefore insufficient to allow the Board to find that the injection fluid is compatible with the formation fluid as required under Utah Admin. Code R649-5-2.2.7. Petitioner's Brief at 26. As discussed in the Statement of Facts, however, Westwater witness Allin clarified that the data submitted were based on laboratory analysis of actual water samples received at its pilot plant from the basins the injected water will originate from, and that analysis of the injection water and the formation water confirmed their compatibility. *See* Statement of Facts at ¶28. Again, while Living Rivers cross-examined Mr. Allin and gave argument concerning its view of the sufficiency of Westwater's evidence, it offered no evidence of its own on this question.

As discussed above, the record before the Board contained only the uncontradicted evidence of Westwater and the Division. That evidence, which Living Rivers failed to marshal, amply supports the Board's findings on the issues referenced by Living Rivers in its brief.

**III. THE BOARD PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION TO DENY THE MOTION FOR REHEARING**

The Board's ruling on Living Rivers' request for rehearing is reviewed for abuse of discretion, and will be disturbed only if it exceeds the bounds of reasonableness and rationality. *See Wasatch Oil & Gas, LLC v. Reott*, 2011 UT App 152, ¶8, 682 Utah Adv.

Rpt. 50 (reviewing trial court decision concerning whether to reconsider its ruling for abuse of discretion); *Grace Drilling Co.*, 776 P.2d at 70 (applying abuse of discretion review to agency decision not to reopen record to take additional evidence and reconsider its prior ruling).<sup>22</sup>

Requests for reconsideration or rehearing before the Board are governed by the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (“UAPA”) and the Board’s procedural rules. UAPA provides that “[w]ithin 20 days after the date that an order is issued . . . any party may file a written request for reconsideration with the agency, stating the specific grounds upon which relief is requested.” Utah Code Ann. §63G-4-302(1)(a). The Board’s procedural rules state that if a petition for rehearing “is based upon newly discovered evidence, then the petition will be accompanied by an affidavit setting forth the nature and extent of such evidence, its relevancy to the issues involved, and a statement that the party could not, with reasonable diligence, have discovered the evidence prior to the hearing.” Utah Admin. Code R641-110-200.

Although all parties are charged with knowledge of these statutory and regulatory requirements, the Board’s Final Order explicitly referenced these provisions and notified Living Rivers of what it needed to do to appropriately seek rehearing (R.155-56 at ¶6).

---

<sup>22</sup> The “substantial evidence” standard that Living Rivers references in connection with this issue, Petitioner’s Brief at 4, governs judicial review of challenged factual findings. The substantial evidence standard does apply to judicial review of the Board’s denial of a motion for reconsideration or rehearing.

Despite this notice, Living Rivers failed to comply with the rules governing requests for rehearing in several important ways.

First, although Living Rivers based its rehearing motion on a desire to present new evidence (including possible expert testimony of Dr. Kip Solomon)<sup>23</sup>, it did not offer, or even claim to possess, any definite or concrete evidence from Dr. Solomon at the time its motion was filed. Instead, Living Rivers' motion vaguely states that "in a preliminary discussion Dr. Solomon indicated there are additional questions that need to be examined" (R.161 at ¶3). The motion did not state Dr. Solomon had identified any specific problems with the application or with Westwater's evidence, and no affidavit or other material from Dr. Solomon was attached. It therefore failed to describe the nature, extent and relevance of the evidence as required by the Board's rule.

Second, in violation of the Board's procedural rules, Living Rivers' motion failed to address why Living Rivers "could not, with reasonable diligence, have discovered the evidence prior to the hearing." Utah Admin. Code R641-110-200. This rule serves the important purpose of preserving the tribunal's resources and avoiding unnecessary rehearings when evidence was obtainable prior to the original hearing. In upholding an administrative Board's refusal to consider new evidence in connection with a request for

---

<sup>23</sup> In its Request for Rehearing, Living Rivers referenced two pieces of new information or evidence. The first was a memo to Grand County addressing questions of county land use and zoning authority unrelated to the issues before the Board (R.169-71). The second was potential expert testimony from Dr. Kip Solomon. As discussed above, however, Living Rivers' did not attach a report from Dr. Solomon to its Request for Rehearing, and its statements concerning the testimony Dr. Solomon might later give were vague.

reconsideration, this Court noted that “if a party were free to reshape its case, so long as it did so within 20 days after a decision, the administrative process would never end.” *Salt Lake Donated Dental Serv.*, 2011 UT App 7, ¶12 (quoting *Western Water, LLC v. Olds*, 2008 UT 18, ¶31, 184 P.3d 578)). Here, Living Rivers was aware of the subject injection well application and had actually filed an objection to it in early September 2010, more than three months before the hearing. *See* Statement of Facts at ¶6. Living Rivers had ample time to prepare for the December 8, 2010 hearing, and was obligated by the Board’s rules to address why the expert opinion it sought to offer in requesting a rehearing could not have been obtained earlier.

Utah courts have upheld denials of motions for reconsideration or rehearing under similar circumstances. *See Timpanogos Hosp. v. Labor Comm’n.*, 2011 UT App 106, ¶5, 251 P.3d 855 (upholding Labor Commission’s refusal to reopen a hearing because proffered new evidence was “unreasonably late and too insubstantial to warrant reopening the evidentiary proceeding”). *See also Grace Drilling Co.*, 776 P.2d at 70 (Industrial Commission’s refusal to reopen record was not an abuse of discretion where employer had “had ample opportunity to present its case and failed to meet its burden”).

Thus, both the vague description of Dr. Solomon’s proffered opinion that “additional questions [needed] to be examined,” as well as the failure to address why the expert testimony could not have been obtained prior to the hearing, violated the regulations applicable to requests for rehearing and warranted denial of the motion.

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